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Above: St Augustine’s Abbey in Canterbury, with the Cathedral’s ‘Bell Harry Tower’ in the background.
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T

he Kingdoms of Scotland and England

and the Principality of Wales – just like

the languages they now speak – are the

products of a remarkable tapestry of

different strands, comprising the earlier kingdoms

which gradually formed the union we now know.

Each of those traditions contributed to the growth

of the religious life and the artistic and architectural

development of the buildings within which the

religious lived. It is for that reason that this book

uses those early kingdoms as section titles, to suggest

these early roots.

The impact of the religious life upon our nations

is often not recognised. Oxbridge colleges cluster

around courts and quads hinting at the cloisters

which pre-dated them; monasteries were laboratories

for learning; Cistercian houses were often built close

to ore deposits and also had large granges to

accommodate sheep and cattle – monks were

pioneers of industry and farming. All this stands

alongside their crucial religious significance. This

indicates both the power and the influence of

religious orders in the making of European

civilisation. The roots of this tradition go back well

beyond the growth of European self-consciousness –

even beyond the roots of Christianity. The Dead Sea

Scrolls and the culture they represent, for example,

issued from a second-century Jewish monastery-like

complex, indicating that a corporate religious lifestyle

existed well before the beginnings of Christianity.

EARLY CHRISTIAN COMMUNITIES

In the fourth century, St Antony in Egypt and

St Jerome in Judaea, and later the Desert Fathers,

pioneered a form of solitary monasticism that

survives in Egypt and Ethiopia down to the present

day. Monks lived secluded lives in separate cells that

were constructed around a central church, coming

together only for common worship. A similar style

of religious life existed in those places where Irish

Christian discipleship was the main instrument of

INTRODUCTION
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mission. In the rural and remote areas of Ireland,

and then later in Iona and in Cornwall, solitaries

would build cells around a simple church. They

would use these centres as bases for missionary forays

into the surrounding countryside. In the seventh

century, Aidan was sent from Iona to Lindisfarne as a

missionary to the kingdom of Northumbria; he again

established an Irish-style monastery as his base. There

were similar religious centres in Wales, and at least

one in East Anglia.

Then, in the early seventh century, Augustine

established his missionary centre in Canterbury, in

the kingdom of Kent, with later missionaries moving

on to Rochester and London. Augustine had been

sent to England by Pope Gregory the Great, himself

a monk. By this time, the influence of St Benedict,

who had died in the mid sixth century, was already

beginning to make its mark. Benedict, an Italian,

is seen as the father of Western monasticism. He,

and his Rule, more than anything else, began to give

shape and stability to that form of monasticism which

was lived in community. His rule is a remarkable

balance of guidelines for wholesome living and

challenges to live the Christian life. The pattern

of life that issued from the Benedictine way would

become formalised in the shape and structure of

the monastic complex. It is this which helps us to

understand the British abbeys and priories that

have survived, either completely or as ruins.

The growth of the religious life in medieval times

is often not fully appreciated. For example, at the

beginning of the twelfth century in England alone,

the numbers of such foundations could be counted

on the fingers of one’s hands; by the end of the

twelfth century there were more than 300 religious

houses scattered across the country. The sheer

explosion of monasticism is demonstrated by

glancing at maps which indicate their numerical

presence. In 1950, the Ordnance Survey published

two extraordinarily informative sheets titled simply

Map of Monastic Britain

. These two sheets still repay

careful study and open up a new world for any who

live within these shores.
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INTRODUCTION

THE MONASTIC TRADITION

At the heart of the religious life stands the discipline

of prayer and thus the monastic church is the focus

in every abbey and priory. In the choir, the monks

would gather for prayer at least seven times in every

twenty-four hours; they would even rise during the

middle of the night to pray, the night stair down to

the church survives in places. Beyond the space

known as the choir, which was normally at the heart

of the church, to the east would be the high altar,

around which the monks or sisters would gather for

mass. To the west of the choir, generally beyond a

wooden or stone screen, was the nave, or people’s

church, where mass would be sung with and for the

local population, possibly also with pilgrims, and in

some cases with the ‘lay brothers’ of the community.

The monks would generally live in dormitories

(dorters) and they would eat corporately in large

hall-like refectories. There would be a guest house for

pilgrims and travellers, and often a hostry (a pilgrims’

hall) where travellers would be welcomed. These

monastic buildings would also include a chapter

house for conventual meetings and a library. These

would be ranged around a cloister. The cloister

was thus the nexus of all routes, the crossroads

of the monastery. It stood at the heart of a stable,

contemplative community – the Benedictine rule

includes a vow of stability. The monks were

encouraged to stay within the bounds of the

monastery and not to be wanderers – Benedict

has harsh words to say about peripatetic monks,

whom he calls gyrovagues!

As the Middle Ages progressed, so other

orders developed. In the twelfth century, a stricter

interpretation of the Benedictine vows, pioneered

at Cîteaux in southern France, gave birth to the

Cistercian order. The asceticism here was harsher

and the geographical position of the monasteries

generally remote – Fountains and Valle Crucis

Abbeys are but two examples. Cistercians pioneered

efficient farming and, as working communities,

survived by including within their number numerous

lay brothers, who helped run the monastery and the

farms. It is not an exaggeration to say that the

Benedictines (with the Cistercians) were perhaps

more responsible than any other group of people for

the foundation and self-understanding of medieval

Europe. The culture of learning and the importance

of the leadership of the abbot was seminal in the

growth of European civilisation.

Still other religious orders developed. The

mendicant (those forbidden to own property) orders

of friars, that is, the Franciscans or Greyfriars, the

Dominicans or Blackfriars, and the Carmelites or

Whitefriars – all were founded at the end of the

twelfth and beginning of the thirteenth centuries.

These orders were missionary and so mobile in

contrast to the Benedictines. Groups of secular and

Augustinian canons also came to live in community.

Different again were the Carthusians; the

‘charterhouses’, in which they lived bore some

similarities to early monasticism. The monks lived

in separate houses and came together only for

community worship. Mount Grace Priory in

Yorkshire is a fine example of this expression of the

religious life. In England, uniquely, a number of the

medieval cathedrals were also priories in themselves.

ARCHITECTURAL DEVELOPMENT

The style of architecture of English priories

and abbeys developed at the same time as the

communities who inhabited them. The simplicity

of Saxon architecture, often with fairly primitive

round-headed arches and windows, gave way to

Left: Mount Grace Priory.
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Above: Rievaulx Abbey.

the austere strength of the Romanesque style.

Romanesque took its name from the solid round

arcades and strong pillars which had developed from

Roman architecture. In Britain this style is primarily

associated with the Norman invaders and is often

simply styled Norman. Tewkesbury Abbey is an

excellent example of this style.

In the late Romanesque period, the arches began

to become pointed and this style is often termed

Transitional. In the late twelfth and early thirteenth

centuries, Romanesque eventually gave way to the

lighter touch of Early English, focused on the familiar

three slender and parallel lancets seen at Rievaulx

and at Whitby. Early English marks the beginnings

of medieval English Gothic, which matured into the

intricacy of the Decorated and Geometric tracery

familiar in so many English parish churches. Among

abbeys and priories, the nave of Beverley Minster is

a fine example. The apotheosis of English Gothic is

reached in the Perpendicular period, during the

fifteenth and sixteenth centuries, with its strong

vertical lines and sumptuous fan vaulting. The Henry

VII Chapel in Westminster Abbey and St George’s

Chapel, Windsor are perfect examples.

The Renaissance led eventually to the rediscovery

of the principles of Classical architecture, and the

seventeenth and eighteenth centuries saw a flowering

of the Classical style, but with the Reformation,

the power and strength of the monastic life was

suppressed and eclipsed. The nineteenth century saw

a rediscovery of medievalism, albeit in a most creative

manner, in the work of the great Victorian architects,

but again here it would have little influence, except

perhaps in the restoration of earlier buildings where

they had survived. This remarkable development of

architectural styles and expression is just one part of

the background to the abbeys and priories to which

this book seeks to introduce you.
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THE KINGDOM OF

NORTHUMBRIA

Northumbria began as two kingdoms: Deira from the Humber

to the Tees and Bernicia from the Tees into what is now

southern Scotland. Lothian remained part of Northumbria

after King (later Saint) Oswald’s victory at Heavenfield in 633

when Deira and Bernicia became a united Northumbria, only

becoming part of Scotland after the Battle of Carham in 1018.

Northumbria became an early crucible of Christian culture.

Lindisfarne, Jarrow, Bishopwearmouth and Durham are part

of the surviving evidence of this. This huge swathe of northern

England thus owes much of its monastic heritage to the

Northumbrian inheritance. The later abbeys and priories at

Lindisfarne, Whitby, Hexham, Ripon and Durham Cathedral

are direct descendants. Sadly, much has disappeared –

Berwick-upon-Tweed had fifteen religious houses of differing

observances and functions – barely one stone survives. In

Alnwick, only the abbey gatehouse, buildings from the

Carmelite priory in Hulne Park, and fragments of a lazar

house (lepers’ colony) speak of this past. The crypts at

Hexham, Ripon and Lastingham are other early survivals,

linked with St Wilfrid and St Cedd. Nonetheless, of the

explosion of the religious life in the twelfth century, much

remains for the visitor, tourist and pilgrim.
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THE KINGDOM OF NORTHUMBRIA

KIRKSTALL ABBEY

Opposite: Looking west to Lindisfarne Priory and village.

Right: A view of the partially ruined tower.

K

irkstall can boast two or three eccentricities

which verge on the unique. First of all, it is

the best preserved of all the English

monasteries. Second, until 1827, the lane

connecting Leeds with Skipton passed through the

church running from east to west, with the east wall

and the east window being removed for just that

purpose; the new road avoided that but still separated

the abbey from its gatehouse, which stands on the

corner of Abbey Walk opposite, and is now the

Abbey House Museum. Finally, Kirkstall’s elevation

was included in Josiah Wedgwood’s celebrated and

vast ‘Frog’ china service commissioned by Catherine

the Great of Russia – fame indeed.

Remarkably it survives as a striking sight only two

miles from the centre of Leeds. Begun originally at

Barnoldswick in 1147, the monks and lay brothers

were able to obtain this site in the Aire valley in 1152,

which they named Kirkstall. It would appear that the

main buildings were complete before the death of

Alexander, the first abbot, in 1182; the church was

finished five years earlier. There was some additional

building in the early thirteenth century, and in the

late fifteenth/early sixteenth century new kitchens

were constructed.

Kirkstall, a Cistercian house, was founded from

Fountains and there are clear similarities. The church,

which is all of one date, was built to what was at that

time the standard Cistercian design. With a long nave

and short presbytery, there are two aisled transepts,

each with three chapels to the east. There is a great

central tower, again like Fountains built in the

sixteenth century, not long before the Dissolution –

sadly the collapse of the western arch of the crossing

brought down the west and north sides of the tower.

The south and half of the east remain – it is a

perilous sight. Rather remarkably the rib vaulting of

the presbytery survives. The west front of the church

is austere Romanesque.

Alongside this, much of the cloister court is still

there. On the west side stands the inner wall of the

lay brothers’ range. Next to the south transept, the

library was converted in the early nineteenth century

into a grotto/summerhouse. Next to this is the noble

double-arched entrance to the Chapter House; next

door once again is the vaulted parlour. From here a

passageway leads to the former infirmary, now visible

only as foundations. The visitor centre in the lay

brothers’ reredorter was built in 2006 by Purcell,

Miller and Tritton.

Following the Dissolution, Kirkstall survived with

less damage than many other monasteries for a

variety of different reasons. First it was farmed, but

with comparatively minor demolition. Then, in the

nineteenth century, Colonel John North acquired the

Cardigan estate, of which the abbey was part, and

gave it to the city corporation. This process of

consolidation had been helped by the abbey

becoming a favourite subject for artists including

Girtin, Corman and Turner.
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THE KINGDOM OF NORTHUMBRIA

BEVERLEY MINSTER

B

everley is a town of two glorious churches:

St Mary’s, the ancient parish church set

near to the centre of the town, and the

Minster lying further towards the southern

edge. St Mary’s was originally a daughter church of

the minster, the minster having a very long history,

with a major church on this site from as early as

c

.700. In his

Ecclesiastical History of England

, Bede refers

to the monastery founded at Beverley by Bishop John

of York. Refounded as a collegiate church of secular

canons in the tenth century, it gained greatly in

significance with the canonisation of Bishop John

as St John of Beverley in 1037, and the development

of his cult.

From the mid eleventh century onwards, the

church was rebuilt in the Romanesque style.

Following a fire in 1188, and the collapse of the

central tower in 1213, the church underwent further

reconstruction starting around 1220, with the king

giving forty oaks from Sherwood Forest towards the

rebuilding. The new minster was conceived on

cathedral scale, with double transepts like Lincoln.

Rebuilding began at the east end with the fine Early

English work in the retrochoir, choir and transepts.

The nave was begun

c.

1311 in the Decorated style

and completed in the 1390s, although work may

have been halted in 1348–9 on account of the Black

Death. Another gift of oaks was received in 1388

with an indulgence being granted for new work in

1408. This allowed the Perpendicular western towers

to be added and the nave to be completed. The

west front includes the arms of Richard II. The

fifteenth-century north porch is monumental. Only

the Percy Chapel (

c.

1490) and the choir stalls (

c.

1520)

came later. Outstanding furnishings include the

tomb of Lady Eleanor Percy (

c.

1340), perhaps the

most splendid of all such Decorated monuments

in England. The choir stalls, with sixty-eight

misericords, include the largest collection in

England of carved figures playing medieval

musical instruments. Nicholas Hawksmoor surveyed

the minster in 1716–7 and thereafter directed the

restoration, which was completed under William

Thornton in 1730. Hawksmoor was also

responsible for the crossing tower of 1721.

There is a mixed collection of stained glass,

with the thirteenth- to fifteenth-century work now

all grouped together in the east window. In 2004 an

exceptional scheme of contemporary stained glass

by Helen Whittaker on the theme of Pilgrimage

was added in the retrochoir. Scott, in his restoration,

designed the decoration above the choir. As with

Hexham Abbey there is a frithstool-style throne,

possible from as early as the seventh century;

originally it would have been sited in the apse as with

the throne in Norwich Cathedral. The font canopy

and carved panels on the west door are superb, and

there is also a very fine bishop’s throne, even though

at the Reformation the minster was not chosen to

be the centre of a see.

Below: Viewed from the south.
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BYLAND ABBEY

I

n its early days, Byland was a conflicted

place with serious disputes involving four other

monastic communities, including two as far away

as Cumbria. Much of this was on account of

finding an acceptable location. Alongside that, the

community had begun as a Savigniac house in

Furness in 1134, and as the community was making

their third move, the Savigniac order merged with the

Cistercians. Thus, on this fourth attempt, in 1177,

and repeating their earlier attempt to settle at Byland,

this would be where they would remain, despite its

close proximity to Rievaulx.

Byland is one of the finest abbey ruins in

England, since the north side of the nave survives for

its entire length, along with the west end and south

transept corner. The original building was for some

thirty-six monks and one hundred lay brothers. The

remarkable spaciousness of the church as we now

encounter it issues from the fact that all the piers have

been lost. Following all the false starts, the church was

built in the more advanced Cistercian style, which

was modelled on the plans of French cathedrals of

that time, with an eastern apse, an ambulatory and

radiating chapels. This is similar to the plan of Abbey

Dore in Herefordshire, and follows, to some degree,

the pattern at Cîteaux itself. This pattern is clear from

the ruins of the eastern end of the building. There

will have been a triforium and a clerestory. The

transepts have east and west aisles and the evidence

suggests Transitional style with pointed arches. There

will have been a pulpitum screen between the nave

and choir and the remains of the crossing piers show

their extraordinary strength and proportions. The

west front is splendid with three lancets set below

a large rose window which would have then been

crowned by a gable.

We can trace the pattern of the cloister which

appears to have been built in two phases, beginning

with the south range. The west range included the

quarters of the lay brethren, with the dormitory

on the upper floor and store rooms beneath; the

reredorter, that is the lavatories, were at the southern

end of the west range. The cloister was rebuilt in the

fifteenth century, and the solid screen walls date from

that period of construction. The south range, as

usual, comprised the refectory, kitchen and warming

house, with a mighty fireplace in its west wall. The

east range beginning at the south transept was the

monks’ quarters with the dormitory above. The

lowest steps of the night stair survive. Next comes

the chapter house, then the parlatorium. Further

along was the monk’s reredorter. To the west of

this were the abbot’s lodgings with the infirmary

to the south-east.

The gatehouse to the whole abbey complex is

some distance to the west. Under the care of English

Heritage, and with significant buildings surviving,

Byland makes a perfect twin visit with nearby

Rievaulx.

Above: The west front of Byland Abbey.
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